FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 6/10/2021 1:04 PM Supreme Court No. <u>99899-0</u> Court of Appeals No. 37024-1-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/22/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL HIATT, Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Rachel E. Sterett Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington requests this Court exercise discretionary review over Division Three of the Court of Appeals' decision in *State v*. *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III, 2021 WL 1929311 (May 13, 2021) (unpublished). *See*, Attach. A.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the decision below involves whether a gratuitous bailee can possess a stolen motor vehicle, an issue of substantial public importance?
- 2. Is review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) where the decision below conflicts with the United States Supreme Court in *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979), regarding whether sufficiency of the evidence review differs between bench and jury trials?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Michael Hiatt, was charged in the Spokane County Superior Court by amended information, with one count of possession of a stolen motor vehicle and one count of possession of a motor vehicle theft tool. CP 4. Mr. Hiatt waived his right to a jury trial. CP 9. The Honorable Charnelle Bjelkengren presided over the trial. Mr. Hiatt was convicted as charged by the court. *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 6.

The trial court made the following relevant findings of fact. On December 25, 2018, Officer Ethan Wilke was on patrol in the area of West Sharp Avenue and North Jefferson Street in Spokane County. CP 83 (FF 1). He observed a Ford Expedition which he believed had been reported stolen. CP 83 (FF 1).

Officer Wilke determined the vehicle was not reported stolen; however, he then observed a black Honda Accord chained to the front of the Expedition. CP 83-84 (FF 2 -3). The two vehicles were chained together and padlocked by their front bumpers, hood-to-hood. CP 84 (FF 4). Officer Wilke knew that early 1990s Honda Accords are often stolen in Spokane. CP 84 (FF 5). The Accord's driver's side window was broken out and there was shattered glass on the front seat. CP 84 (FF 6). The Accord did not have a license plate, so Officer Wilke checked the Vehicle Identification Number (VIN). CP 84 (FF 7). He learned the Accord was reported stolen. CP 84 (FF 8).

Thereafter, Michael Hiatt exited the Explorer. CP 84 (FF 9). Officer Wilke determined Mr. Hiatt had outstanding misdemeanor arrest warrants. CP 84 (FF 10). Officer Wilke placed Mr. Hiatt under arrest and advised him of his *Miranda*¹ rights. CP 84 (FF 11). Mr. Hiatt acknowledged his rights and agreed to speak with Officer Wilke. CP 84 (FF 12).

Mr. Hiatt told Officer Wilke that the Ford belonged to him but was not registered in his name. CP 84 (FF 13). Mr. Hiatt told Officer Wilke that the Accord belonged to his buddy, but did not want to disclose his buddy's name. CP 84 (FF 14). Mr. Hiatt told Officer Wilke that his buddy had asked if he could chain the Accord to the Expedition; Mr. Hiatt allowed his friend to do so. CP 84 (FF 15-16).

K.C. Chavez was the legal owner's brother and had permission to use the Honda from approximately December 10, 2018, to December 24, 2018, when he last saw the vehicle. CP 84-85 (FF 17-18, 20). Mr. Chavez and his brother were the only two individuals with keys to the Accord. CP 85 (FF 19). Mr. Chavez last saw the vehicle on December 24, 2018, at 3:30 p.m. and filed a stolen vehicle report with Officer Zachary Johnson that same day. CP 85 (FF 20, 22).

After Officer Wilke discovered the Accord, Officer Johnson and Mr. Chavez went to the location and also observed the Accord; its ignition

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

was "punched" and there was broken glass on the ground. CP 85 (FF 23, 25). Mr. Chavez also noted that the tires and rims were different than those affixed to the Accord the day before, and the speakers, stereo and toolbox were missing. CP 85 (FF 28-29). Those items were never recovered. CP 85 (FF 30).

During a search incident to Mr. Hiatt's arrest, Officer Wilke found three key rings containing shaved keys in his pants pocket; based upon the officer's training and experience, shaved keys are commonly used to steal vehicles. CP 85 (FF 26-27).

From these facts, the trial court concluded that Mr. Hiatt knowingly received, retained, or possessed a motor vehicle by allowing his friend to chain the Accord to his Ford Explorer. CP 86 (CL 1). The court further concluded that Mr. Hiatt acted with knowledge that the Accord was stolen because of the visibly punched ignition and broken window. CP 86 (CL 3). By allowing the Accord to be chained to his Expedition, the court found that Mr. Hiatt withheld or appropriated the Accord to the use of someone other than the true owner. CP 86 (CL 4). Lastly, the court found that Mr. Hiatt knew that the shaved keys found in his pocket were intended to be used for motor vehicle theft. CP 86 (CL 7, 9).

The trial court found Mr. Hiatt guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of both counts. CP 86-87. The trial court entered written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. *See*, Attach. B.

On appeal, Mr. Hiatt claimed insufficient evidence supported his conviction for possession of a stolen motor vehicle. *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 6. A majority of the Court of Appeals agreed, citing this Court's decision in *State v. Homan*, 181 Wn.2d 102, 330 P.3d 182 (2014); the *Hiatt* majority opinion held that there was not substantial evidence contained in the trial court's written findings to show that the defendant had constructive or actual possession of the stolen vehicle. *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 7-9.

The majority believed that it was bound by the trial court's written findings of fact in its review of sufficiency of the evidence on appeal. *Id.* at 12. This belief ostensibly limited the majority's review of sufficiency of evidence to the trial court's written findings. *Id.* Under that standard of review, the majority held that the defendant was not a bailee and RCW 9A.56.010(23) did not apply because the defendant did not accept possession of the stolen vehicle from its true owner. *Id.* at 6. Judge Pennell disagreed with the majority opinion. *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 1 (Pennell, J., dissenting). Judge Pennell found that the defendant was, at a minimum, a bailee for the stolen vehicle as he told police that he had allowed the Accord to be chained to his own vehicle so it would not get stolen. *Id*. Judge Pennell also observed that sufficiency of the evidence review should not have been limited to the trial court's findings of fact in a bench trial. *Id*. at 7-8.

Judge Pennell found that even if the defendant were not a bailee (as established by his own statement to law enforcement), the State's evidence would be sufficient to prove possession *even absent* this admission. *Id.* at 4. The Accord was found *chained and padlocked to the defendant's vehicle*, and was obviously stolen, with a punched-out ignition and a broken window; further, shaved keys, used for motor vehicle theft, were found on the defendant's person. *Id.* at 1, 3-4.

IV. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

Review by this Court is appropriate where one or more of RAP 13.4's criteria are met. Here, the opinion below presents a conflict with United States Supreme Court case law adopted and relied upon by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

In *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 319, the petitioner was convicted of firstdegree murder *after a bench trial. Id.* at 307. The U.S. Supreme Court affirmed the conviction, holding that a review of the record in the light most favorable to the prosecution showed that any rational factfinder could have found the petitioner guilty. *Id.* Specifically, this inquiry did not require a reviewing court to ask whether *it* believed the evidence at trial established guilt beyond a reasonable, but whether *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 318-19. This Court adopted the *Jackson* standard in *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 235, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Here, the majority opinion has created a double standard that could encourage criminal litigants to waive their right to a jury trial and gamble that poorly written findings of fact could result in reversal and dismissal despite the presence of sufficient evidence in the record that would support affirming the conviction had the matter been tried to a jury.

Second, the opinion below appears to require proof that a defendant obtained some benefit or that he "used" a stolen vehicle in some other fashion, additional elements that are not required by RCW 9A.56.068. The majority decision rejected the notion that the defendant could be considered a gratuitous bailee and still be in possession of a stolen motor vehicle. Given that this is not an uncommon fact pattern for possession of stolen motor vehicle cases (i.e., where a defendant claims that he or she "received" stolen property from a friend) and bench trials are a common occurrence in this state, the two issues presented are issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CLARIFY WHETHER A GRATUITOUS BAILEE "POSSESSES" STOLEN GOODS SUCH THAT HE OR SHE MAY BE CRIMINALLY LIABLE.

A person is guilty of possession of stolen motor vehicle if he or she possesses a stolen vehicle. RCW 9A.56.068(1). "Possessing stolen property" means to "knowingly *receive*, *retain*, *possess*, conceal or dispose of property" knowing it has been stolen and withholding it from the true owner. RCW 9A.56.140(1) (emphasis added). Property that is obtained by theft is "stolen." RCW 9A.56.010(17). "Theft" means to wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over the property of another with the intent to deprive that person of such property. RCW 9A.56.020. Theft may be committed by having property in one's possession, custody or control as a bailee. RCW 9A.56.010(23)(b).

A bailee is one entrusted with the *possession* of another's property. 3 Wharton's Criminal Law § 359 (15th ed. 2020). By definition, a bailee receives personal property from another and has possession of. but not title to. the property. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 173 (11th ed. 2019). It is sufficient to prove a bailee's *acceptance* of the article bailed by showing, either directly or circumstantially, constructive acceptance. See e.g., Bertig Bros. v. Norman, 101 Ark. 75, 141 S.W. 201 (1911). "Accept" means to "receive with consent." MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S DICTIONARY AND THESAURUS 5 (2007). A bailment may exist even where property has come into the possession of a person by accident or mistake, as long as that person knows or has notice that he has possession and custody of the property. Bertig Bros., 101 Ark. at 203; see also State v. Kealey, 80 Wn. App. 162, 907 P.2d 319 (1995) ("Mislaid property is presumed to have been left in the custody of the owner or occupier of the premises upon which it is found. When [one] takes possession of mislaid property he or she becomes a gratuitous bailee by operation of law"). "The essence of a [gratuitous bailment] is the absence of any compensation to the bailee." United States v. Frank, 207 F. Supp. 216 (S.D.N.Y 1962). By accepting control over the property, a person becomes a gratuitous bailee and is required to explain any loss of the goods. *Murphy v. Schwark*, 117 Wash. 461, 462, 201 P. 757 (1921).

Viewing the facts found by the trial court in the light most favorable to the State, the defendant told law enforcement that he had allowed an unidentified friend to chain and padlock the Accord to his own vehicle to prevent it from being stolen. By this statement, as acknowledged by Judge Pennell's dissent, Mr. Hiatt consented to the stolen vehicle being secured to his own and was aware of the vehicle being in his safe-keeping. Having apparently received no benefit for compensation for chaining the Honda to his own, Hiatt's admission establishes him as a gratuitous bailee. The defendant had knowledge that the vehicle was stolen because of the visibly punched ignition and broken window.² This is sufficient to support the conviction of possession of a stolen motor vehicle. *State v. Couet*, 71 Wn.2d 773, 775, 430 P.2d 974 (1967).

However, the majority opinion would require more to establish Mr. Hiatt's possession of the vehicle that he accepted and permitted to be chained to his own. It appears that the majority would require: (1) Hiatt have

² The sufficiency of the evidence of defendant's knowledge that the vehicle was stolen has not been challenged on appeal.

expressly promised to protect the vehicle; (2) Hiatt's provable entry into the vehicle; (3) Hiatt to have had express permission to saw off the lock; and/or (4) Hiatt to have had an ability to pay for repairs to his *own* vehicle so as to allow the Accord to be moved.

The majority opinion requires that the State must prove a defendant's "control" over a stolen vehicle gives him or her some benefit or that he or she "used" the vehicle in some other fashion. *See Hiatt*, slip op. at 3 (Pennell, J. dissenting). However, courts cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute. *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). The majority opinion requires the State to prove more than is required by RCW 9A.56.068.

Under the majority opinion, whenever a defendant claims to have obtained stolen goods from a "friend," the State's burden would be heightened to prove the defendant's benefit from or actual use of that property, rather than simply the receipt of stolen goods. Yet, statutorily, a person possesses a stolen vehicle when he or she knowingly receives, retains or possesses a vehicle. RCW 9A.56.068; RCW 9A.56.140(1). The majority opinion adds an additional non-statutory and non-common law element to the offense – use of or benefit from the stolen goods. "Exclusive possession" is the "exercise of exclusive dominion over property, including the use and benefit of the property." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 949 (7th ed. 2000). RCW 9A.56.068 does not require "exclusive possession" by use and benefit; it merely requires the knowing receipt, retention or possession of stolen goods. While this Court has clearly held that more than mere passing control is required to establish possession, *see Couet*, 71 Wn.2d at 775, this Court has never required "exclusive possession," use of or benefit from the possessed goods. This heightened burden of proof is a substantial issue of public interest to prosecutors, courts and Washington's citizens.

B. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CLARIFY WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS IS TO APPLY A DIFFERENT STANDARD OF REVIEW TO SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE CLAIMS FOR BENCH TRIALS THAN IS APPLICABLE TO JURY TRIALS.

"To determine whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction, [the court] view[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the [State] and determine[s] whether any rational fact finder could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Homan*, 181 Wn.2d at 105. In challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, the defendant "admit[s] the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it." *Id.* at 106.

"[F]ollowing a bench trial, appellate review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law." *Id.* Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the finding's truth. *Id.* The court considers unchallenged findings of fact verities on appeal, and review conclusions of law de novo. *Id.*

As above, there was sufficient evidence, both direct and circumstantial, and reasonable inferences that could be drawn therefrom, for the trial court to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Hiatt knowingly received, retained, or possessed the Accord knowing it had been stolen and withheld it from the true owner, as required by RCW 9A.56.140(1). The defendant received the recently stolen Accord from someone other than the true owner. CP 86. The defendant withheld or appropriated the Accord by allowing it to be chained to his vehicle. CP 86. By allowing it to be chained to his vehicle and physically preventing its use and return to the true owner, the defendant had dominion and control over the Accord. CP 86.

Even without the defendant's admission to law enforcement that he accepted the Honda from a "buddy" or a specific finding that the defendant was a gratuitous bailee of the vehicle, there was sufficient evidence that a rational fact finder could have found the defendant guilty of possession of a stolen motor vehicle. Possession of recently stolen property combined with slight corroborative evidence of other inculpatory circumstances will sustain a conviction for possession of stolen property. *State v. Portee*, 25 Wn.2d 246, 253-54, 170 P.2d 326 (1946).

Yet, the majority opinion ignored that evidence, instead believing itself to be confined to the trial court's express findings of fact. This misconception resulted in *less deference* being afforded to a bench verdict than is afforded to jury verdicts. As Judge Pennell's dissent pointed out:

If, in the bench trial context, the sufficiency analysis were limited to the trial court's findings, then a defendant could prevail on appeal and prevent remand merely by pointing out a faulty finding, regardless of the overwhelming strength of the State's case. In contrast, in the jury trial context, we assess whether any rational jury could have found in favor of the State, regardless of whether the actual jury appears to have accepted a particular set of facts.

Hiatt, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 8 n.5 (Pennell J., dissenting).

Based on Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, the majority claimed that it was

bound by the trial court's written findings³ in its review of sufficiency of the evidence.⁴ *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 12.

³ The requirement that a trial court enter written findings is based on a court rule not a constitutional right. CrR 6.1(d). The purpose of requiring written findings and conclusions in a bench trial is to ensure efficient and accurate appellate review. *State v. Cannon*, 130 Wn.2d 313, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996).

⁴ In apparent conflict with its belief that its review was limited to the trial court's written findings of fact, the majority opinion also relied on numerous "facts" from the trial record, not mentioned by the trial court's formal findings: (1) There was too much condensation on the Expedition's windows for the officer to read the vehicle identification number (Hiatt, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 2); (2) the defendant had been sleeping inside the Expedition (*id.* at 3); (3) Officer Wilke and Officer Blankenstein wanted to see if there was anyone in the Expedition so they approached it, knocked on the door and announced themselves (id.); (4) the officers asked for the defendant's name and date of birth and he provided them (id.); (5) Mr. Chavez parked and left the Accord outside his home (id. at 1); (6) Mr. Hiatt was homeless and living out the Expedition (id. at 4); (7) Mr. Hiatt testified that his friend asked if he could keep his car attached to his so that it didn't get stolen (*id.*); (8) when Mr. Chavez arrived to retrieve the Accord, officers cut the chain because no key to the padlock was found in Mr. Hiatt's possession or otherwise (id.); (9) Officer Wilke later testified that Mr. Chavez recognized his rims and tires as being on a white sedan located in the vicinity (*id.*); (10) Mr. Chavez testified it was actually his brother who claimed to have seen the rims and tires on a white sedan (id. at 4-5); (11) Officer Wilke ran the white sedan's plates and confirmed it had not been reported stolen and did not attempt to contact that vehicle's owner (*id.* at 5); (12) Officer Wilke never obtained a warrant to search the Expedition (id.); (13) a beer can found in the Accord that Mr. Chavez said was not his, the can was collected for evidence to check for latent fingerprints but the officer never received the results (*id.*); (14) Officer Wilke did not attempt to fingerprint the interior or exterior of the Accord (*id.*); (15) Officer Wilke did not see cuts on Mr. Hiatt's hands, broken glass on his clothing, or anything else that physically tied Mr. Hiatt to the inside of the Accord (id.); (16) Mr. Hiatt told Officer Blankenstein that the Expedition was inoperable (*id.*); (17) Mr. Hiatt told Officer Blankenstein that the chain connecting the cars was not his (id.); (18) when the officer tried the punch-out key stuck in the ignition, the Accord started up (*id.*);

However, as observed by Judge Pennell, while the *Homan* court stated that appellate review of a bench trial is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact, it affirmed the conviction based on find what a *reasonable* trier of fact *could have found*. *Homan*, 181 Wn.2d at 109-10. This is consistent with the sufficiency of the evidence test outlined in *Jackson*. *See also State v. Yallup*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 546, 553, 416 P.3d 1250 (2018).

As indicated above, *Jackson* also involved the sufficiency of the evidence from a bench trial. After *Jackson*, under the federal constitution, the test for sufficiency of the evidence is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 319. This Court promptly adopted

⁽¹⁹⁾ Mr. Chavez testified that the person who had permission to drive the Accord were his brother and his friends Boogie, Trevor and Adam (*id.*); (20) Mr. Chavez testified that he knew the defendant as his friend Boogie and that he had given him permission to use his car but not that specific day (*id.* at 6); (21) the Accord was parked on a public street (*id.* at 9); (22) the majority concluded that it was possible for any passerby to enter the Accord (*id.*); (23) the majority found that given the defendant was homeless, he likely lacked the means to travel to a hardware store to obtain the necessary tools to saw off the padlock (*id.*); and (24) Mr. Hiatt was sleeping in the inoperable Expedition, with its own broken-out windows, on a "really cold" December night; the majority found that this suggests he lacked the resources to repair and fuel the Expedition (*id.*).

that standard in *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 221–22, 235.⁵ This test does not differ between bench trial and jury trials. *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 317.

In this case, the stolen Accord was found chained and padlocked to the defendant's front bumper, it had a broken driver's seat window, glass on the driver's seat and a punched-out key stuck in the ignition. *Hiatt*, No. 37024-1-III (2021), slip op. at 2-3. The defendant admitted that he had allowed the two vehicles to be bound together and he had three key rings with shaved keys in his pants pocket. *Id.* at 3-4. Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the defendant guilty of possession of a stolen motor vehicle.

Yet, the deference that would have been afforded to a jury's verdict under these facts was not afforded to the verdict of the trial judge sitting as the trier of fact. This dichotomy should be reviewed by this Court as an issue of substantial public importance. *If* there is a difference between the standards of review, which under *Jackson*, there is not, this Court should clarify those standards so as to compel Washington's trial courts to better

⁵ The Court acknowledged that *Jackson* required it to determine whether, *on the whole record*, a rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

assess the sufficiency and accuracy of their written findings of fact for bench trials.

Further, if a trial court's findings of fact are not entitled to deference by the Court of Appeals, more criminal defendants may opt to waive their right to a jury trial, in favor of gambling on the potential that the Court of Appeals may later find technical fault in the written bench trial findings. In such cases, defendants may receive a windfall (i.e., dismissal of charges *and* retrial barred by double jeopardy) where sufficient evidence does, in fact, exist in the record, and if tried to a jury, would have been affirmed on appeal.

V. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court grant review of the decision below. *Hiatt* presents this Court with an opportunity to resolve two matters of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(4).