FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/7/2021 8:16 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

<u>No. 99899-0</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

vs.

Michael Hiatt,

Respondent.

Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 18-1-05601-3

The Honorable Judge Charnelle M. Bjelkengren

Answer to Petition for Review

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Respondent

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case does not merit review. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court precedent. Instead, the court applied established rules to analyze the sufficiency of the evidence and concluded that the State failed to meet its burden.

The Court of Appeals did not add elements to the offense or otherwise burden the prosecution with proving more than is required by the statute. This case does not present any issues of substantial public interest. The Supreme Court should deny review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While homeless in Spokane, Michael Hiatt slept in his Ford Expedition. RP (7/15/19) 30, 47. The Expedition didn't run. RP (7/15/19) 55. On Christmas day, while Mr. Hiatt was asleep in the vehicle, a police officer approached. CP 84; RP (7/15/19) 19, 61. The officer saw that the Expedition was chained to a Honda Accord, nose to nose. CP 84; RP (7/15/19) 20-22. The Accord had been reported stolen. RP (7/15/19) 22, 71. It had a broken window and "a punched-out ignition key" that could not be removed. CP 85. Mr. Hiatt said that a friend had asked to lock the Accord to his Expedition, so that it would not get stolen.¹ CP 84; RP (7/15/19) 28, 30. Mr. Hiatt did not have a key to the padlock connecting the two vehicles. RP (7/15/19) 43-44.

Following a bench trial, Mr. Hiatt was convicted of possessing a stolen motor vehicle.² CP 86-87. The court made detailed findings and concluded that Mr. Hiatt had constructive possession of the Accord. CP 86.

Mr. Hiatt appealed, and his conviction was reversed for insufficient evidence. Two appellate judges concluded that the evidence and the court's findings did not show that Mr. Hiatt had dominion and control over the Accord. Opinion, pp. 8-9. A dissenting judge opined that the evidence was sufficient. Dissent, pp. 1-8.

The State now seeks review of that decision.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

The Court of Appeals majority properly assessed the sufficiency of the evidence in this case. Opinion, pp. 7-9. The court outlined the elements

 $[\]overline{^{1}}$ He declined to name the friend. CP 84.

² Mr. Hiatt was also convicted of making or possessing motor vehicle theft tools, having been found with shaved keys. CP 85-86.

of the offense and identified the primary issue as whether Mr. Hiatt had constructive possession of the stolen Accord. Opinion, pp. 7-8. The court then summarized the test for constructive possession and applied established Supreme Court precedent.³ Opinion, pp. 7-8 (citing, *inter alia, State v. Davis*, 182 Wn.2d 222, 340 P.3d 820 (2014)).

Petitioner does not discuss constructive possession or take issue with the Court of Appeals' explication of the relevant law. Petition, pp. 8-12. This may be taken as a concession. *See In re Pullman*, 167 Wn.2d 205, 212 n. 4, 218 P.3d 913 (2009); *State v. McNeair*, 88 Wn.App. 331, 340, 944 P.2d 1099 (1997).

Instead of discussing constructive possession, Petitioner makes a circular argument regarding "gratuitous bailees," an issue that was not briefed in the Court of Appeals. Petition, pp. 9-12. Petitioner claims that Mr. Hiatt was a bailee because he had possession of the Accord. Petition, pp. 9-10. Petitioner then implies that Mr. Hiatt was in possession because he was a bailee. Petition, pp. 9-10. Such circular logic cannot provide the basis for a criminal conviction.

³ Whether a person had dominion and control is likely a legal question rather than a question of fact. A finding of fact involves a determination of "whether something occurred based on the evidence before the court." *Matter of Welfare of A.L.C.*, 8 Wn.App.2d 864, 872, 439 P.3d 694 (2019). By contrast, when the court "determine[s] the legal significance of those underlying facts," that determination is a conclusion of law. *Id.* Here, for example, the underlying facts include Mr. Hiatt's lack of a key to the padlock. That underlying fact has legal significance in determining whether or not he had dominion and control over the car.

At no point does Petitioner explain how the facts establish constructive possession. Petitioner mentions "dominion and control," but does not analyze factors that might support a finding that Mr. Hiatt had dominion and control over the Accord. Petition, p. 13.

By contrast, the majority opinion outlines the factors necessary to establish dominion and control and applies the law to the facts of this case. Opinion, pp. 8-9. Petitioner's argument appears to be that the Court of Appeals misapplied the law, but the Petition does not provide a different analysis regarding dominion and control or constructive possession. Petition, pp. 8-12.

Petitioner erroneously suggests that the Court of Appeals "require[d] the State to prove more than is required by RCW 9A.56.068." Petition, p. 11. This is incorrect. In keeping with the test for constructive possession, the majority determined "whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the defendant exercised dominion and control" over the Accord. Opinion, p. 8.

The majority concluded that the totality of the circumstances did not establish dominion and control. The court then outlined facts that *could* have proved dominion and control but did not suggest that any particular facts were required. Opinion, pp. 8-9. This is consistent with the caselaw, which permits examination of "a variety of factors to determine

4

whether an individual has dominion and control over an item." State v.

Listoe, 15 Wn.App.2d 308, 326, 475 P.3d 534 (2020). The pattern jury

instruction defining dominion and control makes this explicit as well:

In deciding whether the defendant had dominion and control over a substance, you are to consider *all the relevant circumstances in the case*. Factors that you may consider, *among others*, include... [listing examples]

11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 50.03 (5th Ed) (emphasis added).

Petitioner falsely claims that the majority "adds an additional nonstatutory and non-common law element to the offense – use of or benefit from the stolen goods."⁴ Petition, p. 11. Nowhere in the Opinion does the majority suggest that the prosecution must prove that the defendant used or benefited from stolen goods in order to possess them. Opinion, pp. 6-

13.

The evidence was insufficient for conviction. Mr. Hiatt did not have dominion and control over the stolen Honda Accord. *See Davis*, 182 Wn.2d at 234 (Stephens, J., dissenting, for a majority of the court). He did not have the key to the padlock securing the Honda to the Ford Expedition. RP (7/15/19) 43-44; CP 83-87. Nothing suggests that he helped his friend chain the two vehicles together. RP (7/15/19) 30; CP 83-

⁴ In support of this false claim, Petitioner cites to Judge Pennell's dissent. Petition, p. 11 (citing Dissent, p. 3).

87. He could not tow the Honda away, as the two vehicles were "nose to nose" and the Ford Expedition was broken down. RP (7/15/19) 22, 57; CP 83-87.

The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed the issue and reversed Mr. Hiatt's conviction, relying on established precedent. This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The court should deny review.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY SUPREME COURT DECISIONS.

Relying on Supreme Court precedent, the Court of Appeals applied the proper test for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence. Opinion, pp. 7-8 (citing *State v. Homan*, 181 Wn.2d 102, 330 P.3d 182 (2014)). The court viewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and determined whether any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Opinion, pp. 8-9 (citing *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)). The court concluded that the evidence was insufficient. Opinion, p. 9.

Petitioner appears to take issue with the *Homan* court's assertion that "appellate review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law." *Homan*, 181 Wn.2d at 105–06. Petitioner suggests that this language is inconsistent with *Homan's* requirement that evidence be taken "in the light most favorable to the prosecution" to determine if "any rational fact finder could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.*, at 105. The *Homan* court did not see any conflict between these two statements. *Id*.

Furthermore, this case does not provide a reason to re-examine *Homan*. The Court of Appeals applied the language favored by Petitioner, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and considering whether any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Opinion, pp. 8-9. This is the standard outlined in *Homan*. It is also the standard outlined in *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979). *See* Petition, pp. 1, 7, 16-17 (alleging a conflict between this case and *Jackson*).

Petitioner is apparently dissatisfied with the majority's application of that standard but does not itself apply the standard to analyze the issue of dominion and control or constructive possession.⁵ Petition, pp. 8-12.

⁵ Instead, Petitioner delves into whether or not Mr. Hiatt was a gratuitous bailee. Petition, pp. 9-12. Neither party briefed this issue for the Court of Appeals. Furthermore, Petitioner's circular argument regarding bailment does not provide a basis for proof of possession beyond a reasonable doubt.

The majority correctly refused the dissent's invitation to disregard the trial court's findings because they were "faulty." Opinion, p. 12. Appellate courts do not "hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or substitute their opinions for those of the trier-of-fact." *Yorkston v. Whatcom Cty.*, 11 Wn.App.2d 815, 831, 461 P.3d 392, *review denied*, 195 Wn.2d 1020, 464 P.3d 202 (2020) (quoting *Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 153 Wn.App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009)).

As the majority noted, "the trial court found what it believed it could find, in what was a weak State case." Opinion, p. 12. The majority relied on those findings and concluded that the evidence was insufficient for conviction. Opinion, pp. 8-9.

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1) does not provide a basis for review. The Supreme Court should deny the petition.

CONCLUSION

There is no basis to review the Court of Appeals' opinion. The sufficiency of the evidence does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. Nor does the opinion conflict with Supreme Court precedent. The petition should be denied. Respectfully submitted on July 7, 2021,

BACKLUND AND MISTRY

di R. Backlunk

Jodi R. Backlund, WSBA No. 22917 Attorney for the Appellant

Janele R. Distry

Manek R. Mistry, WSBA No. 22922 Attorney for the Appellant